

CATEGORY: CLINICAL GUIDANCE

Managing menopausal symptoms

This statement has been developed and reviewed by the Women's Health Committee and approved by the RANZCOG Board and Council.

RANZCOG acknowledges the contribution of the Australasian Menopause Society (AMS) in the compilation and continuous review of this statement.

A list of Women's Health Committee Members can be found in <u>Appendix A.</u>

Disclaimer This information is intended to provide general advice to practitioners. This information should not be relied on as a substitute for proper assessment with respect to the particular circumstances of each case and the needs of any patient. This document reflects emerging clinical and scientific advances as of the date issued and is subject to change. The document has been prepared having regard to general circumstances.

First endorsed by RANZCOG: March 1995

Current: September 2020 Review due: September 2023 Objective: To provide advice on the management of menopausal symptoms.

Target audience: All health practitioners providing care for women, and patients.

Values: The evidence was reviewed by the Women's Health Committee (RANZCOG) and applied to local factors relating to Australia and New Zealand.

Background: This statement was first developed by Women's Health Committee in March 1995 and most recently in September 2020.

Funding: This statement was developed by RANZCOG and there are no relevant financial disclosures.

Table of Contents

1.	Plain language summary	3
2.	Summary of Recommendations	3
3.	Overview	6
	3.1 Menopause transition	6
	3.2 Management of troublesome menopausal symptoms	7
4.	Menopausal Hormone Therapy (MHT)	8
	4.1 Indications and benefits	8
	4.2 MHT Safety	9
	4.3 Prescribing MHT	12
	4.4 Other hormones	15
5.	Nonhormonal therapies	16
	5.1 Non-hormonal therapies for VMS	16
	5.2 Non-hormonal therapies for vaginal dryness	17
6.	Management of menopausal symptoms after cancer	18
7.	References	20
Glo	ossary of Terms	24
Link	ks to other related College Statements	24
Oth	ner useful links	24
Pati	ient information	25
Арр	pendices	26
A	Appendix A Women's Health Committee Membership	26
A	Appendix B Contributing authors	26
A	Appendix C Overview of the development and review process for this statement	26
A	Appendix D Full Disclaimer	27

1. Plain language summary

The Menopause is a normal reproductive stage in which egg production and menstrual periods stop permanently. Menopause typically happens in the early 50s but may occur earlier in certain populations. 1 Menopause before age 45 is regarded as "early" and before age 40 as "premature".

Most women (around 80%) experience symptoms at menopause, most commonly hot flushes and/or night sweats and vaginal dryness. These usually do not need medical treatment but around 25% of women have severe and/or prolonged symptoms that may require medical intervention. For those who request treatment, drug free, non-hormonal and hormonal treatments are available.

2. Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1	Grade
Women approaching menopause should be offered information and advice about normal menopausal changes and symptoms and, if required, individualised discussion of management options for troublesome symptoms.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 2	Grade
This consultation is an opportunity for a routine health assessment, education and primary prevention general health and wellbeing including cardiovascular, bone and mental health. Current national breast and cervical screening guidelines should be followed. Bone density should be measured using DXA in those at increased risk of osteoporosis and fracture. Assessment of cardiovascular risk should be guided by age and risk factors	Good Practice Point
Recommendation 3	Grade
Women with a history of affective disorders and those with premature/surgical menopause or following a cancer diagnosis may be at greater risk of developing anxiety and or depressive disorders during menopause. Consider mental health referral in those with symptoms of mood disorder.	Evidence -based recommendation Reference ⁶
Recommendation 4	Grade
Women seeking relief from menopausal symptoms first should also be offered advice on lifestyle changes including stress reduction, regular exercise, optimal weight management, appropriate diet and avoidance of smoking. Excessive alcohol and caffeine intake should also be addressed.	Consensus-based recommendation Reference ⁵
Recommendation 5	Grade
The most common indication for the use of MHT is the alleviation of troublesome menopausal vasomotor symptoms.	Consensus-based recommendation

Recommendation 6	Grade
Women with premature (less than 40 years) or early (less than 45-years) menopause should be offered MHT at least until aged 50 years unless	Evidence-based recommendation
otherwise contraindicated. ⁵	Grade B
Recommendation 7	Grade
Commencement of MHT after the age of 60 is generally not recommended as benefits are less likely to outweigh risks.	Consensus-based recommendation
	Reference 10
Recommendation 8	Grade
MHT should be considered for symptomatic women who have reduced bone density but have not sustained a fracture ⁵ .	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A
Recommendation 9	Grade
Oral MHT is contraindicated in women with previous a personal history of venous thromboembolism (VTE). ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation
(**-2)*	Grade A
Recommendation 10	Grade
MHT should not be used for the primary prevention of CVD. ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A
Recommendation 11	Grade
In women within 10 years of the menopause MHT does not increase the risk of coronary heart disease. ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A
Recommendation 12	Grade
MHT should be avoided in women with a personal history of breast cancer	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 13	Grade
Due to the increasing risk of breast cancer with duration of MHT, annual review of use is recommended. Continuation beyond 5-7 years should be based on an individual woman's needs with regards to the benefits and risks of continued MHT. ⁵	Consensus -based recommendation
Recommendation 14	Grade
Oestrogen only therapy is appropriate for women who have undergone hysterectomy.	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A

Recommendation 15	Grade
Oestrogen plus progestogen should be used in women with an intact uterus	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A
Recommendation 16	Grade
The dose and duration of therapy should be consistent with treatment goals. The need for ongoing MHT should be reviewed regularly.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 17	Grade
For women with vaginal symptoms only, local vaginal oestrogen is the most suitable therapy. ²⁸	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 18	Grade
Short term (1-2 years) use of vaginal oestrogen appears to be safe, though long-term data are lacking. Women using this therapy should be	Evidence-based recommendation
advised to consider intermittent withdrawal to review the need for ongoing therapy	Grade B
Recommendation 19	Grade
Use of topical vaginal oestrogen in women with a uterus does not require concomitant progestin use.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 20	Grade
Review use of MHT after 6 months, with regular subsequent reviews to reassess the balance of risks and benefits for the individual.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 21	Grade
Tibolone should only be used in women > 12 months since menopause as it may cause irregular bleeding in younger women.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 22	Grade
Bioidentical hormonal therapies are not recommended as composition is not standardized, and efficacy and safety data is lacking.	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade B
Recommendation 23	Grade
Paroxetine and fluoxetine should not be used in women taking tamoxifen as it may interfere with tamoxifen metabolism. ⁴⁰	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A

3. Overview

3.1 Menopause transition

RANZCOG fellows, members, diplomates and trainees should be confident discussing menopause with patients, providing information and access to evidence-based treatments.

The menopause is the final menstrual period. The "perimenopause" or "menopause transition" is the time from the onset of menstrual cycle changes until one year after the final menstrual period. A woman is postmenopausal 12-months after her final menstrual period. Timing of menopause can be difficult to determine following hysterectomy, endometrial ablation or in women using hormonal contraception. The early menopause transition is marked by a persistent difference of at least 7 days in length of consecutive cycles. The late menopause transition is marked by periods of amenorrhoea of 60-days or more, frequent anovulation and the onset of perimenopausal symptoms.² The menopause transition commonly starts around 47-years and the average age of natural menopause is 51-years. Previous hysterectomy and smoking are associated with earlier age at menopause.

The diagnosis of menopause is clinical, based on cessation of menstruation for a period of 12 months. For younger women or if the diagnosis is uncertain, elevated gonadotrophins (FSH) and a low oestradiol on 2 occasions can confirm menopause. AMH is not currently recommended to predict or diagnose menopause.

Most women do not require medical treatment for menopausal symptoms. From the age of 45 years (or earlier as appropriate) women should be offered information and advice about normal menopausal changes and symptoms and individualised discussion of management options for troublesome symptoms. This consultation should also be an opportunity for an overall health assessment and education about primary prevention for cardiovascular disease and osteoporosis, for example. Current national breast and

Recommendations 1	Grade
Women approaching menopause should be offered information and advice about normal menopausal changes and symptoms and, if required, individualised discussion of management options for troublesome symptoms.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendations 2	Grade
This consultation is an opportunity for a routine health assessment, education and primary prevention general health and wellbeing including cardiovascular, bone and mental health.	Consensus-based recommendation
Current national breast and cervical screening guidelines should be followed.	
Bone density should be measured using DXA in those at increased risk of osteoporosis and fracture.	

https://www.osteoporosis.org.au/sites/default/files/files/RACGP%20Osteoporosis%20Summary%20Guideline%204428%20Nov%202017.pdf

Assessment of cardiovascular risk should be guided by age and risk factors https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/health-professional-tools/cvd-risk-calculator

http://www.sld.cu/galerias/pdf/servicios/hta/ebm_cardio_new_zeland.pdf

cervical screening guidelines should be followed.

Troublesome vasomotor symptoms (VMS) are the most common reason for women to seek advice and treatment during the menopause transition. Symptoms commonly start during the menopause transition with an average duration of 4-5 years. In around 10% of women symptoms may persist for more than a decade. ^{3,4} Vasomotor symptoms may affect quality of life and mood. Genitourinary symptoms may affect sexual activity or cause discomfort with daily activities. Joint symptoms may be more common in Asian women. ^{1,5}

The risk of osteoporosis increases after menopause. Fracture risk can be calculated using an online tool such as FRAX (http://www.shef.ac.uk/FRAX). Bone density can be measured in those at increased fracture risk using Dual X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA).

Symptoms of anxiety and depression are common in women and may be increased during the menopause transition, particularly in those with chronic sleep disturbance due to vasomotor symptoms. Menopause, due to life changes and aging, may be a time of vulnerability for the development of clinical anxiety and or depressive disorders. Women with a history of affective disorders and those with premature/early or iatrogenic menopause or following a cancer diagnosis may be at greater risk. Consider education, support and/or mental health referral in those at risk or with symptoms of a mood disorder.⁶

Recommendation 3	Grade
Women with a history of affective disorders and those with premature/	Evidence -based
surgical menopause or following a cancer diagnosis may be at greater	recommendation
risk of developing anxiety and or depressive disorders during menopause.	
Consider mental health referral in those with symptoms of mood disorder.	Reference ⁶

3.2 Management of troublesome menopausal symptoms

Management options for troublesome menopausal symptoms include non-pharmacological, non-hormonal and hormonal treatments. Menopausal hormonal therapy (MHT) is effective for vasomotor symptoms, but for some women it is unsuitable (due to preference or contraindications such as venous thromboembolism and hormone receptor positive cancers) and non-pharmacological or non-hormonal treatments can be considered.⁷

Quality of life issues should be discussed and assessed together with the risks of developing osteoporosis, cardiovascular disease, thromboembolism, and dementia associated with aging often coinciding with the menopause.

Lifestyle factors should be addressed and focused on as part of primary prevention and education including weight bearing exercise, calcium/vitamin D intake, avoidance of smoking, excessive alcohol and caffeine intake, optimal weight maintenance and reduction of stress.

Sexual counselling should be considered for the woman, either on her own or with her partner.

Recommendation 4	Grade
Women seeking relief from menopausal symptoms should also be	Consensus-based
offered advice on lifestyle changes including stress reduction, regular	recommendation
exercise, optimal weight management, appropriate diet and avoidance of smoking. Excessive alcohol and caffeine intake should also be addressed.	Reference ⁵

4. Menopausal Hormone Therapy (MHT)

4.1 Indications and benefits

The principal indication for MHT is the relief of troublesome VMS impacting on quality of life. MHT is the most effective treatment for vasomotor symptoms and urogenital atrophy.^{5,8}

Other menopausal symptoms which may improve with oestrogen include sexual dysfunction, sleep disturbance, mood swings and joint or muscle pains. However, treatment of low mood and libido is not a primary indication for MHT.

The decision to start and to continue MHT will depend on the nature and severity of menopausal symptoms, their impact on function and the individual health profile of the woman. Dose is generally titrated to symptom relief and side effects, but most clinical guidelines advise starting with low dose therapy.⁵

There are no fixed guidelines on duration. Whilst VMS may persist in around 40% of women age 60-65^{4,9}, the risks of treatment may increase with longer duration of use. Annual follow up is recommended, to review general health status and need for continued MHT.

Starting MHT over the age of 60, or more than 10 years beyond menopause, is generally not recommended although, in the presence of persistent troublesome symptoms, continuation of existing therapy can be considered.

Young women experiencing menopause may have more severe symptoms and sexual dysfunction may be a greater concern. For women with premature ovarian insufficiency (age 40) or early menopause (< age 45) current guidelines recommend using MHT until the normal menopausal age (i.e. approximately 50 years of age).⁵ Continued use beyond this time should be based on the same risk-benefit assessments at regular review as for other post-menopausal women.

Recommendation 5	Grade
The most common indication for the use of MHT is the alleviation of troublesome menopausal vasomotor symptoms.	Consensus-based recommendation

Recommendation 6	Grade
Women with premature (less than 40 years) or early (less than 45-years) menopause should be offered MHT at least until aged 50 years unless otherwise contraindicated. ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation Grade B
Recommendation 7	Grade
Commencement of MHT after the age of 60 is generally not recommended as benefits are less likely to outweigh risks.	Consensus-based recommendation Reference 10

MHT increases bone density and reduces fracture risk.⁵ However, due to the remainder of the risk-benefit profile, prevention of osteoporosis or fracture is not a primary indication for MHT use. It may be used in asymptomatic women for whom other treatments are considered inappropriate. MHT should be considered for women with menopausal symptoms who have reduced bone density but have not sustained a fracture.

Recommendation 8	Grade
MHT should be considered for symptomatic women who have reduced bone density but have not sustained a fracture.	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A

4.2 MHT Safety

A wide range of MHT products exist, with several different routes of administration, potentially all with different risks and benefits.⁵ The safety of MHT depends on individual risk, dose and duration of MHT use and whether a progestogen is included. MHT appears generally safe if used within 10 years of natural menopause, although this may increase breast cancer risk.¹¹ Breast cancer risk appears greater with combined MHT compared to oestrogen alone, and greater exposure to progestogen (continuous vs intermittent) may lead to greater breast cancer risk. Whilst progestogens are likely to vary in their risk for breast cancer, there is no strong evidence that micronized ("natural") progesterone is safer for the breast than other progestogens.¹¹

Large randomized controlled trials of MHT in older postmenopausal women (average age 63) indicate that around 7 years of either combined or oestrogen-alone MHT does not increase all-cause, cancer specific or cardiovascular mortality up to 18 years later. ¹² The long-term health consequences of MHT in younger postmenopausal women taking MHT are less well defined. Whilst some studies have suggested that MHT around the age of natural menopause may confer

some cardiovascular benefits this has not been confirmed in large RCT and the indication for MHT remains as the treatment of troublesome symptoms. ¹³

4.2.1 MHT and thromboembolic disease

Combined oral oestrogen plus progestin increases risk of VTE approximately 2 fold. ¹⁴ Oral oestrogen also increases VTE risk. ^{14,15} Risk increases with age and the presence of other risk factors including the hormone dose, obesity, smoking, immobility, thrombophilia and previous VTE. Women with prior VTE have been shown to have about 10% incidence of recurrent VTE with MHT, occurring within the first year of treatment. ¹⁶ In the absence of a personal or family history, screening for thrombophilias is not indicated before starting MHT. ⁵

Compared with oral MHT, transdermal MHT does not appear to increase VTE risk in women at low risk for this condition. ¹⁵ A retrospective cohort study of post-menopausal women with first VTE event noted no increase in recurrence rates among women exposed to transdermal MHT but higher recurrence in the small group of women taking oral MHT. ¹⁷

Recommendation 9	Grade
Oral MHT is contraindicated in women with a personal history of venous thromboembolism (VTE). ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A

4.2.2 MHT and stroke risk

An increased risk of stroke has been reported amongst women over the age of 60 or > 10 years from the menopause using either oral oestrogen or combined therapy. The increased risk is confined to ischaemic stroke and is probably related to thromboembolic risk. A large observational study found that whilst oral oestrogen and high doses of transdermal therapy increased stroke risk, no increase was seen when transdermal doses of 50ug or less were used.¹⁸

4.2.3 MHT and cardiovascular disease

The relationship between MHT and cardiovascular disease is complicated by age and time since the menopause. In the follow up of The Women's Health Initiative RCT¹⁴ Coronary Heart Disease was not significantly different during the intervention or post intervention phase for either estrogen only or combined therapy, compared with placebo. When stratified for women aged 50-59 in cumulative follow up, the risk was significantly reduced for users of estrogen only therapy (HR 0.65, 95%Cl 0.44-0.96) and not increased for users of combined MHT. A recent systematic review¹³ concluded that, overall, MHT conferred no protective effect on all-cause mortality, cardiovascular death, non-fatal infarction, angina or revascularisation but did increase risk of stroke and VTE. However, in women who started MHT less than 10 years after the menopause

there was lower mortality (RR0.70, 95%Cl 0.52-0.95) and a lower incidence of coronary heart disease. There was no evidence of increased risk of stroke in this group. These findings are supportive of the 'window of opportunity' hypothesis that initiation of MHT in women within 10 years of their last period is associated with maximum benefit and minimal risk.

Recommendation 10	Grade
MHT should not be used for the primary prevention of CVD. ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation Grade A
Recommendation 11	Grade
In women within 10 years of the menopause MHT does not increase the risk of coronary heart disease. ⁵	Evidence-based recommendation Grade A

4.2.4 MHT and breast cancer risk

MHT increases breast density and combined oestrogen-progestogen increases the risk of breast cancer.²⁰ The use of daily progesterone appears to increase risk above cyclic progesterone use and risk increases with duration of use.¹¹ Whether 5 years of combined MHT use is safe for the breast is uncertain, and breast cancer risk may persist after discontinuation of MHT.^{11,19}

It is uncertain whether oestrogen alone increases breast cancer risk. Large RCT's suggest no increase in risk but observational studies indicate that oestrogen alone may increase breast cancer risk but to a lesser extent than combined MHT.^{11,20}

The additional risk attributable to MHT is similar to the risks associated with sedentary lifestyle, obesity and alcohol consumption.¹⁰

MHT should be avoided after breast cancer.¹⁰ For women at high inherited risk of breast cancer who do not have a personal history of breast cancer, MHT may be safe but data are limited.

Recommendation 12	Grade
MHT should be avoided in women with a personal history of breast cancer	Consensus-based recommendation

Recommendation 13	Grade
Due to the increasing risk of breast cancer with duration of MHT, annual review of use is recommended. Continuation beyond 5-7 years should be based on an individual woman's needs with regards to the benefits and risks of continued MHT. ⁵	Consensus -based recommendation

4.2.5 MHT and endometrial cancer risk

In women who have an intact uterus, unopposed oestrogen increases the risk of endometrial hyperplasia and cancer. Combined continuous MHT reduces the risk of endometrial cancer compared to untreated women.¹⁴ Sequential MHT confers a slight increase risk of endometrial cancer.²¹

4.2.6 MHT and ovarian cancer risk

A large meta-analysis of observational studies has reported an increased risk of ovarian cancer for users of MHT.²² The increased risk was confined to serous and endometrioid subtypes whilst there was a reduction in risk of clear cell and mucinous subtypes. The absolute increase in risk was 2.4 per 10,000 women per year. The clinical significance of this is uncertain.²³ The only large randomised trial²⁴ examining MHT and ovarian cancer risk found no increase after 5 years of therapy, though was insufficiently powered for this rare outcome for the results to be definitive.

4.2.7 MHT and gallbladder disease

Large RCT's have shown an increased risk of cholecystitis with oral MHT use amounting to around 12 extra cases per 1000 women per 5 years.^{25,26}

4.2.8 Other considerations prior to commencing MHT

MHT should not be commenced in women with undiagnosed vaginal bleeding.

Combined MHT may be associated with unscheduled bleeding during the first six months of therapy. Persistent, or new onset, bleeding beyond that time requires investigation.

In women with abnormal liver function tests transdermal therapy should be preferred.

Migraine is not a contraindication to MHT use however low dose transdermal therapy may be preferable.

4.3 Prescribing MHT

Simple clinical guidance, designed to be used in conjunction with more detailed guidelines may be obtained from The Global Consensus Statement on MHT use.¹⁰

The Practitioner's tool kit,²⁷ endorsed by RANZCOG, provides simple, algorithm-based steps for MHT use.

Common side effects of MHT include nausea, headache and breast tenderness. Initiating therapy with low doses should minimise these side effects whilst transdermal therapy is also less likely to induce nausea.

4.3.1 Perimenopause

The combined oral contraceptive pill provides contraception, cycle control, relief from VMS and other symptoms. It will also prevent bone loss. Each woman's risks must be assessed, including smoking status, blood pressure, lipid profile and VTE risk. Eliminating placebo tablets can prevent VMS developing in the pill free week.

The levonorgestrel releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) provides contraception and reduces uterine bleeding. LNG-IUS can provide endometrial protection from systemic oestrogen.

Cyclical (sequential) MHT may be initiated during the peri-menopause for alleviation of VMS however it is not contraceptive and will not regulate menstrual cycles.

4.3.2 Postmenopause

For post-menopausal women treatment goals are alleviation of troublesome menopausal symptoms and improvement in quality of life. For women with an intact uterus MHT may be prescribed as oestrogen plus a progestogen for 14 days per month (cyclical therapy) or every day (continuous combined therapy). Cyclical therapy results in scheduled progestogen withdrawal bleeds. Continuous combined therapy results in amenorrhoea in 90% of women after 12 months although spotting and breakthrough is common in the first 3-4 months of therapy.

Systemic oestrogen

Oral oestrogen is available as oral conjugated oestrogens, micronised 17B oestradiol, oestradiol valerate or oestrone sulphate. Transdermal oestradiol patches, gel or implants may also be used for systemic MHT.

Topical vaginal oestrogen

Local vaginal therapy is preferred for women with isolated GU symptoms of menopause. Treatment is available in the form of pessary, tablet, cream and ring, with no significant differences between these formulations noted for effectiveness or development of endometrial hyperplasia. Data on safety is primarily based on short-term trials, however for use over 1-2 years, there has been no evidence of an associated increase in risk of endometrial hyperplasia or cancer, DVT, breast cancer or cardiovascular disease. Physical vaginal oestrogen therapy does not require additional use of a progestin in women with a uterus.

Progestogens

Progestogen therapy is required for systemic MHT in all women with an intact uterus and may be cyclical or continuous. Progestogens include micronized progesterone and synthetic progestins. It is uncertain whether micronised progesterone is safer than synthetic progestogen. ³² Progestogens are usually taken orally in a fixed dose combination with oestrogen or separately. Fixed dose combined transdermal patches are also available and the LNG-IUS may also be used for endometrial protection.

Recommendation 14	Grade
Oestrogen only therapy is appropriate for women who have undergone hysterectomy.	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A
Recommendation 15	Grade
Oestrogen plus progestogen should be used in women with an intact uterus	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A
Recommendation 16	Grade
The dose and duration of therapy should be consistent with treatment goals. The need for ongoing MHT should be reviewed regularly.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 17	Grade
For women with vaginal symptoms only, local vaginal oestrogen is the most suitable therapy. ²⁸	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 18	Grade
Short term (1-2 years) use of vaginal oestrogen appears to be safe, though long-term data are lacking. Women using this therapy should be	Evidence-based recommendation
advised to consider intermittent withdrawal to review the need for ongoing therapy.	Grade B
Recommendation 19	Grade
Use of topical vaginal oestrogen in women with a uterus does not require concomitant progestin use.	Consensus-based recommendation

4.3.3 Continuing or ceasing MHT

All women using MHT should be reviewed after 6 months therapy. This should include a general health check, a breast check and a mammogram every two years. Bone densitometry should be performed where indicated²⁷ and any unexpected vaginal bleeding after 6 months therapy requires appropriate investigation.

The risks of MHT may be related to duration of MHT use - for example, the risk of venous thromboembolism is greatest in the first year of use, but the risk of breast cancer increases with duration of use.

The need for ongoing MHT should be reviewed regularly. Base the decision on whether to advise continuation of MHT on symptoms and ongoing risks and benefits. There is no set minimum or maximum duration of therapy, though most guidelines recommend use for up to four to five years. Cessation of MHT may lead to resurgent symptoms in around 50% of women, with no clear evidence on the optimum method of discontinuing HRT.

Recommendation 20	Grade
Review use of MHT after 6 months, with regular subsequent reviews to reassess the balance of risks and benefits for the individual.	Consensus-based recommendation

4.4 Other hormones

4.4.1 Testosterone therapy

Testosterone therapy may be beneficial for postmenopausal women with hypoactive sexual desire disorders. This diagnosis requires a full assessment. Testosterone should not be routinely added to MHT in the treatment of menopausal symptoms.³³

4.4.2 Tibolone

Tibolone, a synthetic steroid with oestrogenic, progestogenic and weak androgenic effects, is effective for vasomotor and urogenital symptoms in post-menopausal women. ^{10,34} It is not recommended in peri-menopausal women due to the potential for irregular bleeding. The relative efficacy of Tibolone compared to MHT is not well established. ¹⁰ In randomised trials, Tibolone has been shown to alleviate VMS, improve bone density and reduce fracture risk, ³⁵ to have a modest effect on some domains of female sexual function ³⁴ and to stimulate breasts less than combined MHT. Tibolone does not increase the risk of endometrial hyperplasia or cancer, ³⁵ and is also associated with less bleeding in the first 3 months of treatment. ³⁶ Tibolone increases the risk of breast cancer recurrence and increases risk of stroke in women > 65 years. ^{34,35}

Recommendation 21 Grade

, '	Consensus-based recommendation

4.4.3 Bioidentical hormones

The safety and efficacy of compounded bioidentical hormonal therapies is not established, and the composition of treatments is not standardised.³⁷ These drugs are generally not regulated by the Therapeutic Goods, Drug or equivalent administrations so manufacturing quality and dosage cannot be ensured. Use cannot be recommended. There is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of compounded progesterone creams.

Recommendation 22	Grade
Bioidentical hormonal therapies are not recommended as composition is not standardised, and efficacy and safety data is lacking.	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade B

5. Nonhormonal therapies

Several non-pharmacological and non-hormonal treatments are effective for VMS. There are few effective non-hormonal treatments for GU symptoms.

5.1 Non-hormonal therapies for VMS

Non-pharmacological treatments include hypnosis and cognitive behavior therapy.³⁸ Both have been shown to reduce troublesome VMS.⁷ Yoga, exercise, diet, supplements or other lifestyle changes including weight loss have not been shown to reduce VMS.³⁹ However, these may confer other health benefits.

Over the counter complementary/ alternative medications, such as black cohosh and phytoestrogens, have not consistently been shown to be effective for VMS.⁷

Non-hormonal pharmacological medications shown to be superior to placebo in some randomised controlled trials include SSRIs (paroxetine, citalopram and escitalopram), SNRIs (venlafaxine, desvenlafaxine) and centrally acting medications including gabapentin, pregabalin and clonidine. ^{5,39} Most trials are short term only and longer-term data is lacking. Paroxetine and fluoxetine may interfere with tamoxifen metabolism. ⁴⁰

Recommendation 23	Grade
Paroxetine and fluoxetine should not be used in women taking tamoxifen as it may interfere with tamoxifen metabolism. ⁴⁰	Evidence-based recommendation
	Grade A

5.2 Non-hormonal therapies for vaginal dryness

5.2.1 Lubricants and moisturisers

There is little evidence to support the effectiveness of vaginal moisturisers and lubricants.⁴¹

A randomised controlled trial of water- and silicone- based lubricants found that the silicone-based lubricant was more effective at reducing pain during sexual activity in patients with breast cancer. A pilot study of olive oil (as a lubricant), vaginal moisturiser and pelvic floor muscle relaxation significantly improved dyspareunia, sexual function and quality of life after breast cancer.

5.2.2 Vaginal lidocaine

Topical vulvar lidocaine (4%) applied for 3 minutes prior to penetration reduces pain during intercourse after breast cancer.⁴⁴

5.2.3 Vaginal Laser

There are many publications about the use of fractionated CO₂ laser for treatment of menopausal vulvo-vaginal symptoms. Early case series have suggested that the treatment may improve vaginal dryness and dyspareunia, with more recent studies evaluating its effect on urinary symptoms. Most studies remain limited by design and small subject populations. The few RCT's comparing laser with MHT^{46,47,48} generally show no significant difference in outcomes between these therapies. Long-term outcome data is still lacking, and some studies have had contradictory results with some data suggesting increased pain with intercourse⁴⁸, although a recent review⁴⁹ suggested a very low risk of serious complications, such as vaginal burns. As a result, use of vaginal laser therapy outside of clinical trials is not currently recommended. However, in the future there may prove to be a role for it in women who cannot, or do not wish to, use MHT, or for whom MHT does not result in satisfactory response.

6. Management of menopausal symptoms after cancer

Management of menopausal symptoms after cancer should include information about induced menopause and possible symptoms as well as available treatments. Management then requires a holistic and multidisciplinary approach with individualised care.⁵⁰

Systemic MHT provides symptom control and may be used after most cancers but should be avoided after breast cancer and after some other oestrogen-dependent cancers (see table).

Vaginal oestrogen is effective for vaginal dryness. Safety after breast cancer is uncertain but a recent review ⁵¹ of topical oestrogen use for 1-2 years in breast cancer survivors found no associated changes in breast density or bi rads breast cancer risk score. Lubricants may also help with pain with sexual activity.

Women who have had cancer may need additional support, education and counselling about menopausal symptoms. Counselling should include discussion of the uncertain risks and benefits of MHT after cancer depending on the cancer type.

When any therapy is considered, the woman's other treating doctors should be involved in the decision-making along with the woman to provide individualised multidisciplinary care. A woman may wish to have her partner and/or other support people involved in any education, counselling and decision making.

Annual review including mammography is recommended for women on MHT.

Table 1: Gynaecological cancers and MHT recommendation

Cancer Type	MHT use	Comments
Cervical SCC or adenocarcinoma	Acceptable ⁵²	Not considered hormonally responsive. No correlation between ER or PR status and survival. 53,54
Endometrial Ca - Stage I & II	May be considered ⁵⁵	Limited data available suggests no additional harm
Endometrial Ca - Stage III & IV	Not recommended ^{52,55}	No data to inform use.
Uterine Sarcoma	Not recommended ^{52,55}	Some are ER and PR positive, and respond to anti-E therapy. No data to demonstrate safety of MHT use in women with ER/PR negative tumours.
Ovarian Ca - high grade serous, clear cell, mucinous	Acceptable ⁵²	Limited data suggests no harm with E therapy.

Ovarian Ca - low grade serous & endometrioid	Not recommended 52,55	
Vulval & Vaginal Ca	Acceptable ⁵⁵	Not considered hormonally responsive.

Table 2: Non-gynaecological cancers and MHT recommendation

Cancer Type	MHT use	Comments
Breast Ca	Avoid MHT ^{10,56} Avoid Tibolone ⁵⁷	No consensus on use of vaginal oestrogens. Consult with breast surgeon or oncologist to optimise treatment options for individual patients.
Colorectal Ca	Acceptable ^{58,59}	
Lung Ca – ER positive	No consensus ³⁹	
Haematological Ca	Acceptable ⁵⁴	
Malignant melanoma	No consensus ³⁹	

7. References

- 1. Baber RJ. East is east and West is west: perspectives on the menopause in Asia and The West. Climacteric 2014;17(1):23-8. doi: 10.3109/13697137.2013.830607
- 2. Harlow SD, Gass M, Hall JE, et al. Executive summary of the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop +10: addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. *Climacteric* 2012;15(2):105-14. doi:10.3109/13697137.2011.650656, 10.3109/13697137.2011.650656
- 3. Maki PM, Freeman EW, Greendale GA, Henderson VW, Newhouse PA, Schmidt PJ, Scott NF, Shively CA, Soares CN. Summary of the National Institute on Aging-sponsored conference on depressive symptoms and cognitive complaints in the menopausal transition. *Menopause* 2010; 17: 815-22.
- 4. Avis NE, Crawford SL, Greendale G, Bromberger JT, Everson-Rose SA, Gold EB, Hess R, Joffe H, Kravitz HM, Tepper PG, Thurston RC. Duration of menopausal vasomotor symptoms over the menopause transition. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015 Apr:17(4):531-9
- 5. Baber RJ, Panay N, Fenton A, IMS Writing Group. 2016 IMS Recommendations on women's midlife health and menopause hormone therapy. *Climacteric* 2016;19(2):109-50. doi:10.3109/13697137.2015.1129166
- 6. Gartoulla P, Bell RJ, Worsley R, Davis SR. Moderate-severely bothersome vasomotor symptoms are associated with lowered psychological general wellbeing in women at midlife. *Maturitas*. 2015 Aug;81(4):487-92
- 7. Hickey M, Szabo RA, Hunter MS. Non-hormonal treatments for menopausal symptoms. BMJ (Clinical research ed) 2017;359:j5101. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j5101 [published Online First: 2017/11/25]
- 8. Maclennan AH, Broadbent JL, Lester S, et al. Oral oestrogen and combined oestrogen/progestogen therapy versus placebo for hot flushes. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* 2004(4):CD002978. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002978.pub2
- 9. Gartoulla P, Worsley R, Bell RJ, Davis SR. Moderate to severe vasomotor and sexual symptoms remain problematic for women aged 60 to 65 years. *Menopause* 2015;22(7):694-701
- de Villiers TJ, Hall JE, Pinkerton JV, et al. Revised Global Consensus Statement on Menopausal Hormone Therapy. Climacteric 2016;19(4):313-5. doi:10.1080/13697137.2016.1196047, 10.1080/13697137.2016.1196047
- 11. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Type and timing of menopausal hormone therapy and breast cancer risk: individual participant meta-analysis of the worldwide epidemiological evidence. *Lancet* 2019;394(10204):1159-68. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(19)31709-x [published Online First: 2019/09/03]
- 12. Manson JE, Aragaki AK, Rossouw JE, et al. Menopausal Hormone Therapy and Long-term All-Cause and Cause-Specific Mortality: The Women's Health Initiative Randomized Trials. JAMA 2017;318(10):927-38. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.11217 [published Online First: 2017/09/13]
- 13. Boardman HM, Hartley L, Eisinga A, et al. Hormone therapy for preventing cardiovascular disease in post-menopausal women. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* 2015;3:CD002229. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002229.pub4
- 14. Manson J. MHT and Health outcomes during intervention and post stopping phases of WHI. JAMA 2013;310:1353-68
- 15. Rovinski D, Ramos RB, Fighera TM, et al. Risk of venous thromboembolism events in postmenopausal women using oral versus non-oral hormone therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thrombosis research* 2018;168:83-95. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018.06.014 [published Online First: 2018/06/25]
- 16. Hoibraaten E, Qvigstad E, Arnesen H, Larsen S, Wickstrom E, Sandset PM. Increased risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism during hormone replacement therapy - results of the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled estrogen in venous thromboembolism trial (EVTET). Thromb Haemost 2000;84(6):961-7
- 17. Olie V, Plu-Bureau G, Conard J, Horellou MH, Canonico M, Scarabin PY. Hormone therapy and recurrence of venous thromboembolism among postmenopausal women.

- Menopause. 2011;18(5):488-93. doi:10.1097/gme.0b013e3181f9f7c3, 10.1097/gme.0b013e3181f9f7c3
- 18. Renoux C, Dell-aniello S, Garbe E, Suissa S. Transdermal and oral hormone replacement therapy and the risk of stroke: an nested case-control study. *BMJ* 2010;340:c2519
- 19. Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, et al. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2002;288(3):321-33. doi:10.1001/jama.288.3.321
- 20. Anderson GL, Limacher M, Assaf AR, et al. Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2004;291(14):1701-12. doi:10.1001/jama.291.14.1701
- 21. Allen N, Tsilidis K, Key T et al. Menopausal hormone therapy and risk of endometrial carcinoma among postmenopausal women in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition. *Am J Epidemiol* 2010;172:1394-403
- 22. Collaborative Group on Epidemiological Studies of Ovarian Cancer. Menopausal hormone use and ovarian cancer risk: individual participant meta-analysis of 52 epidemiological studies. *Lancet* http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61687-1
- 23. Davis SR, Baber R. Reproductive endocrinology: Menopausal hormone therapy-ovarian cancer risk revisited. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 2015;11(6):322-3. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.33
- 24. Anderson GL, Judd HL, Kaunitz AM, et al. Effects of Estrogen Plus Progestin on Gynecologic Cancers and Associated Diagnostic Procedures: The Women's Health Initiative Randomized Trial. *JAMA*. 2003;290(13):1739–1748. doi:10.1001/jama.290.13.1739
- 25. Cirillo DJ, Wallace RB, Rodabough RJ, Greenland P, LaCroix AZ, Limacher MC, Larson JC. Effect of estrogen therapy on gallbladder disease. JAMA. 2005;293(3):330
- 26. Simon JA, Hunninghake DB, Agarwal SK, Lin F, Cauley JA, Ireland CC, Pickar JH. Effect of estrogen plus progestin on risk for biliary tract surgery in postmenopausal women with coronary artery disease. The Heart and Estrogen/progestin Replacement Study. *Ann Intern Med.* 2001;135(7):493
- 27. Jane FM, Davis SR. A practitioner's toolkit for managing the menopause. *Climacteric* 2014;17(5):564-79. doi: 10.3109/13697137.2014.929651 [published Online First: 2014/07/08]
- 28. Lethaby A, Ayeleke RO, Roberts H. Local oestrogen for vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* 2016(8):Cd001500. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001500.pub3 [published Online First: 2016/09/01]
- 29. Crandall CJ, Hovey KM, Andrews CA, Chlebowski RT, Stefanick ML, Lane DS, Shifren J, Chen C, Kaunitz AM, Cauley JA, Manson JE. Breast cancer, endometrial cancer, and cardiovascular events in participants who used vaginal estrogen in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *Menopause* 2018;25:11-20 doi:10.1097/GME.0000000000000956.
- 30. Biehl C, Plotsker O, Mirkin S. A systematic review of the efficacy and safety of vaginal estrogen products for the treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause. *Menopause*. 2019;26(4):431-453. doi:10.1097/GME.000000000001221.
- 31. Vinogradova Y, Coupland C, Hippisley-Cox J. Use of hormone replacement therapy and risk of venous thromboembolism: nested case-control studies using the QResearch and CPRD databases. *BMJ*. 2019;364:k4810. doi:10.1136/bmj.k4810, 10.1136/bmj.k4810
- 32. Simon JA. What if the Women's Health Initiative had used transdermal estradiol and oral progesterone instead? *Menopause* 2014;21(7):769-83. doi: 10.1097/GME.00000000000169
- 33. Davis SR, Baber R, Panay N, et al. Global Consensus Position Statement on the Use of Testosterone Therapy for Women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2019;104(10):4660-66. doi: 10.1210/jc.2019-01603 [published Online First: 2019/09/10]
- 34. 26. Huang KE, Baber R, Asia Pacific Tibolone Consensus G. Updated clinical recommendations for the use of tibolone in Asian women. *Climacteric*: the journal of the International Menopause Society 2010;13(4):317-27. doi: 10.3109/13697131003681458
- 35. Cummings SR, Ettinger B, Delmas PD, et al. The effects of tibolone in older postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(7):697-708. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0800743, 10.1056/NEJMoa0800743

- 36. Hammar ML, van de Weijer P, Franke HR, Parnel B, von Mauw EM, Nijland EA. Tibolone and low-dose continuous combined hormone treatment: vaginal bleeding pattern, efficacy and tolerability. *BJOG*. 2007;114(12):1522-9. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2007.01537.x
- 37. Gaudard AMIS, Silva de Souza S, Puga MES, et al. Bioidentical hormones for women with vasomotor symptoms. *The Cochrane Database Of Systematic Reviews* 2016(8):CD010407. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010407.pub2
- 38. Tao WW, Tao XM, Song CL. Effects of non-pharmacological supportive care for hot flushes in breast cancer: a meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer 2017;25(7):2335-47. doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3691-y [published Online First: 2017/04/12]
- 39. Szabo RA, Marino JL, Hickey M. Managing menopausal symptoms after cancer. *Climacteric* 2019;22(6):572-78. doi: 10.1080/13697137.2019.1646718
- 40. Stearns V, Johnson MD, Rae JM, et al. Active tamoxifen metabolite plasma concentrations after coadministration of tamoxifen and the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor paroxetine. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2003;95:1758-64
- 41. Treating vulvovaginal atrophy/genitourinary syndrome of menopause: how important is vaginal lubricant and moisturizer composition?; 2016; Great Britain. Informa Healthcare.
- 42. Hickey M, Allardice K, Wolke L, et al. Silicone Vs. Water-Based Lubricant for Symptomatic Vaginal Dryness After Breast Cancer: Preliminary Findings From a Randomized Trial. Reproductive Sciences. 2015:63A-63A
- 43. Juraskova I, Jarvis S, Mok K, et al. The acceptability, feasibility, and efficacy (phase I/II study) of the OVERcome (Olive Oil, Vaginal Exercise, and MoisturizeR) intervention to improve dyspareunia and alleviate sexual problems in women with breast cancer. The Journal Of Sexual Medicine 2013;10(10):2549-58. doi: 10.1111/jsm.12156
- 44. Goetsch MF, Lim JY, Caughey AB. A Practical Solution for Dyspareunia in Breast Cancer Survivors: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2015;33(30):3394-400. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.60.7366 [published Online First: 2015/07/27]
- 45. Aguiar LB, Politano CA, Costa-Paiva L, Juliato CRT. Efficacy of fractional CO₂ laser, promestriene, and vaginal lubricant in the treatment of urinary symptoms in postmenopausal women: a randomized clinical trial. *Lasers Surg Med.* 2020 Jan 28. doi: 10.1002/lsm.23220
- 46. Paraiso MFR, Ferrando CA, Sokol ER, Rardin CR, Matthews CA, Karram MM, Iglesia CB. A randomized clinical trial comparing vaginal laser therapy to vaginal estrogen therapy in women with genitourinary syndrome of menopause: The VeLVET Trial. *Menopause*. 2020 Jan;27(1):50-56. doi: 10.1097/GME.000000000001416.
- 47. Politano C, Costa-Paiva L, Aguiar LB, Machado HC, Baccaro LF. Fractional CO2 laser versus promestriene and lubricant in genitourinary syndrome of menopause: a randomized clinical trial. *Menopause* 2019;26(8):833-840. doi:10.1097/GME.000000000001333.
- 48. Cruz VL, Steiner ML, Pompei LM, Strufaldi R, Afonso Fonseca FL, Simardi Santiago LH, Wajsfeld T, Fernandes CE. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial for evaluating the efficacy of fractional CO₂ laser compared with topical estriol in the treatment of vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. *Menopause*. 2018 Jan;25(1):21-28. doi: 10.1097/GME.0000000000000055
- 49. Wallace SL, Sokol ER, Enemchukwu, EA. Vaginal energy-based devices characterization of adverse events based on the last decade of MAUDE safety reports. Menopause 2020 doi:10.1097/GME.000000000001661
- 50. Cohen PA, Brennan A, Marino JL, et al. Managing menopausal symptoms after breast cancer A multidisciplinary approach. *Maturitas* 2017;105:4-7. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.04.013 [published Online First: 2017/05/06]
- 51. Zuo SW, Wu H, Shen W. Vaginal estrogen and mammogram results: case series and review of literature on treatment of genitourinary syndrome of menopause (GSM) in breast cancer survivors. *Menopause*. 2018;25(7):828-836. doi:10.1097/GME.000000000001079.
- 52. Sinno AK, Pinkerton J, Febbraro T, Jones N, Khanna N, Temkin S, et al. Hormone therapy (HT) in women with gynecologic cancers and in women at high risk for developing a

- gynecologic cancer: A Society of Gynecologic Oncology (SGO) clinical practice statement: This practice statement has been endorsed by The North American Menopause Society. Gynecologic oncology. 2020;157(2):303-6.
- 53. Bodner K, Laubichler P, Kimberger O, Czerwenka K, Zeillinger R, Bodner-Adler B. Oestrogen and progesterone receptor expression in patients with adenocarcinoma of the uterine cervix and correlation with various clinicopathological parameters. Anticancer research. 2010;30(4):1341-5.
- 54. Martin JD, Hähnel R, McCartney AJ, De Klerk N. The influence of estrogen and progesterone receptors on survival in patients with carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Gynecologic oncology. 1986;23(3):329-35.
- 55. Rees M, Angioli R, Coleman RL, Glasspool R, Plotti F, Simoncini T, et al. European Menopause and Andropause Society (EMAS) and International Gynecologic Cancer Society (IGCS) position statement on managing the menopause after gynecological cancer: focus on menopausal symptoms and osteoporosis. Maturitas. 2020;134:56-61.
- 56. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Early and locally advanced breast cancer: Diagnosis and management: NICE, 2018.
- 57. Kenemans P, Bundred NJ, Foidart J-M, et al. Safety and efficacy of tibolone in breast-cancer patients with vasomotor symptoms: a double-blind, randomised, non-inferiority trial. *The Lancet Oncology* 2009;10(2):135-46. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70341-3
- 58. Kuhle CL, Kapoor E, Sood R, et al. Menopausal hormone therapy in cancer survivors: A narrative review of the literature. *Maturitas* 2016 doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.07.018
- 59. Marjoribanks J, Farquhar C, Roberts H, et al. Trial does not change the conclusions of Cochrane review of long term hormone therapy for perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed) 2012;345:e8141. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e8141

Glossary of Terms

Menopause: The permanent cessation of menstruation. The definition is made retrospectively, 12 months after the final menstrual period.

Premature Menopause: Menopause before the age of 40.

Early Menopause: Menopause before the age of 45, but after the age of 40.

Perimenopause: The period of time immediately prior to the menopause (when the endocrinological, biological, and clinical features of approaching menopause commence) and the first year after menopause.

Links to other related College Statements

Tamoxifen and the Endometrium (C-Gyn 12)

https://ranzcog.edu.au/RANZCOG SITE/media/RANZCOG-

MEDIA/Women%27s%20Health/Statement%20and%20guidelines/Clinical%20-

%20Gynaecology/Tamoxifen-and-the-endometrium-(C-Gyn-12).pdf?ext=.pdf

Consent and provision of information to patients in Australia regarding proposed treatment (C-Gen 02a)

https://ranzcog.edu.au/RANZCOG SITE/media/RANZCOG-

 $\label{lem:median} \underline{\text{MEDIA/Women}\%27s\%20Health/Statement}\%20 \\ \text{and}\%20 \\ \text{guidelines/Clinical}\%20-\%20 \\ \text{General/Consent-and-provision-of-information-to-patients-in-Australia-(C-Gen-2a).pdf?ext=.pdf}$

Consent and provision of information to patients in New Zealand regarding proposed treatment (C-Gen 02b)

https://ranzcog.edu.au/RANZCOG_SITE/media/RANZCOG-

 $\label{lem:median} \begin{tabular}{ll} MEDIA/Women\%27s\%20Health/Statement\%20 and \%20 guidelines/Clinical\%20-\%20 General/Consent-and-provision-of-information-NZ-(C-Gen-2b).pdf?ext=.pdf \end{tabular}$

Evidence-based Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynaecology (C-Gen 15)

https://www.ranzcog.edu.au/RANZCOG SITE/media/RANZCOG-

 $\underline{\text{MEDIA/Women}\%27s\%20 Health/Statement}\%20 and \%20 guide lines/Clinical\%20-\%20 General/Evidence-weight of the property of$

 $\underline{based\text{-}medicine,\text{-}Obstetrics\text{-}and\text{-}Gynaecology\text{-}(C\text{-}Gen\text{-}15)\text{-}Review\text{-}March\text{-}2016.pdf?ext=\text{.}pdf}$

Other useful links

National Breast Screening Programme (BreastScreen Australia)

http://www.cancerscreening.gov.au/internet/screening/publishing.nsf/Content/breast-screening-1

National Cervical Screening Programme (Australia)

http://cancerscreening.gov.au/internet/screening/publishing.nsf/Content/cervical-screening-1

National Breast Screening Programme (New Zealand)

http://www.nsu.govt.nz/National Cervical Screening Programme (New Zealand)

http://www.nsu.govt.nz/

Australasian Menopause Society-Combined Menopausal Hormone Therapy (MHT) https://www.menopause.org.au/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=267:combined-menopausal-hormone-therapy-mht

Cardiovascular Disease Risk Assessment(NZ)

 $\underline{https://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/cardiovascular-disease-risk-assessment-management-primary-care-feb18-v4_0.pdf}$

Patient information

A range of RANZCOG Patient Information Pamphlets can be ordered via: https://www.ranzcog.edu.au/Womens-Health/Patient-Information-Guides/Patient-Information-Pamphlets

Appendices

Appendix A Women's Health Committee Membership

Name	Position on Committee
Professor Yee Leung	Chair and Board Member
Dr Gillian Gibson	Deputy Chair, Gynaecology
Dr Scott White	Deputy Chair, Obstetrics
Associate Professor Ian Pettigrew	Member and EAC Representative
Dr Kristy Milward	Member and Councillor
Dr Will Milford	Member and Councillor
Dr Frank O'Keeffe	Member and Councillor
Professor Sue Walker	Member
Dr Roy Watson	Member and Councillor
Dr Susan Fleming	Member and Councillor
Dr Sue Belgrave	Member and Councillor
Dr Marilyn Clarke	ATSI Representative
Associate Professor Kirsten Black	Member
Dr Thangeswaran Rudra	Member
Dr Nisha Khot	Member and SIMG Representative
Dr Judith Gardiner	Diplomate Representative
Dr Angela Brown	Midwifery Representative, Australia
	Midwifery Representative, New
Ms Adrienne Priday	Zealand
Ms Ann Jorgensen	Community Representative
Dr Rebecca Mackenzie-Proctor	Trainee Representative
Dr Leigh Duncan	Maori Representative
Prof Caroline De Costa	Co-opted member (ANZJOG member)
Dr Christine Sammartino	Observer

Appendix B Contributing authors

The committee acknowledges the contribution of Dr Martha Hickey and Dr Rebecca Szabo to this statement.

Appendix C Overview of the development and review process for this statement

i. Steps in developing and updating this statement

This statement was originally developed in March 1995 and was most recently reviewed re-written in September 2020. The Women's Health Committee carried out the following steps in reviewing this statement:

- Structured clinical questions were developed and agreed upon.
- An updated literature search to answer the clinical questions was undertaken.
- At the September 2020 committee meeting, the existing consensus-based recommendations were reviewed and updated (where appropriate) based on the available

body of evidence and clinical expertise. Recommendations were graded as set out below in Appendix B part ii)

ii. Grading of recommendations

Each recommendation in this College statement is given an overall grade as per the table below, based on the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Levels of Evidence and Grades of Recommendations for Developers of Guidelines. ¹⁷ Where no robust evidence was available but there was sufficient consensus within the Women's Health Committee, consensus-based recommendations were developed or existing ones updated and are identifiable as such. Consensus-based recommendations were agreed to by the entire committee. Good Practice Notes are highlighted throughout and provide practical guidance to facilitate implementation. These were also developed through consensus of the entire committee.

Recommendation category		Description
Evidence-based	А	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice
	В	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice in most situations
	С	Body of evidence provides some support for recommendation(s) but care should be taken in its application
	D	The body of evidence is weak and the recommendation must be applied with caution
Consensus-based		Recommendation based on clinical opinion and expertise as insufficient evidence available
Good Practice Note		Practical advice and information based on clinical opinion and expertise

Appendix D Full Disclaimer

This information is intended to provide general advice to practitioners, and should not be relied on as a substitute for proper assessment with respect to the particular circumstances of each case and the needs of any patient.

This information has been prepared having regard to general circumstances. It is the responsibility of each practitioner to have regard to the particular circumstances of each case. Clinical management should be responsive to the needs of the individual patient and the particular circumstances of each case.

This information has been prepared having regard to the information available at the time of its preparation, and each practitioner should have regard to relevant information, research or material which may have been published or become available subsequently.

Whilst the College endeavours to ensure that information is accurate and current at the time of preparation, it takes no responsibility for matters arising from changed circumstances or information or material that may have become subsequently available.